East London Project: a participatory mixed-method evaluation on how removing enforcement could affect sex workers' safety, health and access to services in East London

Pippa Grenfell,^{1†} Jocelyn Elmes,^{1†} Rachel Stuart,² Janet Eastham,³ Josephine Walker,⁴ Chrissy Browne,⁵ Carolyn Henham,¹ M Paz Hernandez Blanco,⁶ Kathleen Hill,⁷ Sibongile Rutsito,⁸ Maggie O'Neill,⁹ MD Sarker,¹ Sarah Creighton,¹⁰ Peter Vickerman,⁴ Marie-Claude Boily¹¹ and Lucy Platt^{1*}

- ¹Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK
- ²Brunel University, London, UK
- ³Independent researcher
- ⁴Population Health Sciences, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK ⁵Barts Health NHS Trust, London, UK
- ⁶Open Doors, Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
- ⁷Faculty of Health and Life Sciences, Coventry University, Coventry, UK
- ⁸School of Health Care, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK
- ⁹Department of Sociology, University College Cork, Cork, Ireland
- ¹⁰Department of Sexual Health, Homerton University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
- ¹¹Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Imperial College London, London, UK
- ^{*}Corresponding author lucy.platt@lshtm.ac.uk †Joint first authors

Published September 2024 DOI: 10.3310/VRMD8546

Plain language summary

East London Project: a participatory mixed-method evaluation on how removing enforcement could affect sex workers' safety, health and access to services in East London

Public Health Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 10 DOI: 10.3310/VRMD8546

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

Some sex workers experience greater levels of violence, anxiety, depression and drug use than people who do not sell sex. This research evaluated the effects of removing police enforcement on sex workers' safety and health (violence, depression and anxiety) and access to health and social care in East London. The study was participatory: co-researchers with lived experience of sex work or of working closely with sex workers worked with university-based researchers to design, conduct and disseminate the research. We conducted qualitative research (interviews and neighbourhood walks) to understand how police enforcement affected sex workers' safety, health and service access. We measured how much enforcement affected levels of violence, through a cohort study (recruiting participants and following up with them over time). We then developed a mathematical model to simulate the effects of removing enforcement.

In this urban locality, we found that women (cisgender and transgender) who worked on the street experienced far higher levels of police enforcement and reported more violence from all perpetrators, including police themselves, than those working indoors. They reported higher levels of anxiety and depression and were less likely to be getting help for these problems. In our study, sex workers' safety and mental health were affected by entrenched poverty, insecure housing, police enforcement and service cuts. Cisgender and transgender women who worked on the street, used drugs, were migrants and/or were women of colour were particularly targeted for enforcement, denied justice and affected by funding cuts to specialist health and support services. Ethnically and racially minoritised sex workers more frequently worked in lower-paid, street-based settings and, regardless of work setting, were more frequently arrested and imprisoned. Our mathematical modelling suggested that stopping the displacement of street-based sex workers alongside the provision of housing could result in a significant (71%) reduction in client violence. Participants recommended redirecting funds from enforcement towards respectful, peer-led services. Findings add weight to existing international evidence on ending enforcement against sex workers and the need to address other of violence and poor health, including reducing poverty, providing housing and commissioning appropriate, community-led services for sex workers.

Public Health Research

ISSN 2050-439X (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Public Health Research (PHR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, NCBI Bookshelf, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full PHR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/phr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Public Health Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Public Health Research* (PHR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the PHR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Public Health Research* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

PHR programme

The Public Health Research (PHR) programme, part of the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), is the leading UK funder of public health research, evaluating public health interventions, providing new knowledge on the benefits, costs, acceptability and wider impacts of non-NHS interventions intended to improve the health of the public and reduce inequalities in health. The scope of the programme is multi-disciplinary and broad, covering a range of interventions that improve public health.

For more information about the PHR programme please visit the website: https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/public-health-research.htm

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the PHR programme as award number 15/55/58. The contractual start date was in February 2017. The draft manuscript began editorial review in May 2021 and was accepted for publication in June 2022. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The PHR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, these of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the PHR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Grenfell *et al.* This work was produced by Grenfell *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).